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The Chair (Mr. Bryan May (Cambridge, Lib.)): Good
afternoon, everybody. I apologize for the late start here, so we're
going to get going without too much preamble.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Thursday, November 9, 2017, the committee is
resuming its study of experiential learning and pathways to
employment for Canadian youth.

Today the committee will hear from witnesses on the subject of
co-operative education and programs. I promise my bias to the
University of Waterloo will not come through too much.

We have with us today, Norah McRae, executive director of the
co-operative education program and career services at the University
of Victoria coming to us via video conference from Victoria, B.C. 1
understand you may have a new role—is that public?

Dr. Norah McRae (Executive Director, University of Victoria,
Co-operative Education Program and Career Services): Yes, it is
public. It's not starting until September though.

The Chair: Maybe we can hear about that in a little while.

From the Canadian Chamber of Commerce, we welcome Patrick
Snider, director of skills and immigration policy.

From Co-operative Education and Work-Integrated Learning
Canada, we have Kristine Dawson, president-clect, and Anne-Marie
Fannon, past president.

From Mitacs, we have Gail Bowkett, director of innovation policy.

From the Waterloo Centre for the Advancement of Co-operative
Education at the University of Waterloo, we have Judene Pretti.

Welcome to all of you. We are going to get right into opening
statements.

First up is Ms. McRae. The next seven minutes are all yours.

Dr. Norah McRae: Thank you very much.

As noted, my name is Dr. Norah McRae, and I am the executive

director of the co-operative education program and career services at
the University of Victoria in beautiful Victoria, B.C.

Thank you for the opportunity to provide a brief to the House of
Commons Standing Committee on Human Resources, Skills and
Social Development and the Status of Persons with Disabilities as a
contribution to the study on the way in which experiential learning
can guide younger Canadians through the transitions between high
school, post-secondary, and the labour market.

This brief will focus on curricular work-integrated learning, a
form of experiential learning, and the role it plays in supporting the
transition of post-secondary students into the labour market.

Work-integrated learning, or WIL, is a model of education that
prepares students with the required 21st century skills to succeed in
the workforce, and bridges their transition to employment, setting
them up for lifelong learning. This educational framework is
practised in a variety of forms across the globe, but regardless of
the structure or operational details of the program, certain key
aspects are common: the authentic and productive nature of the
experience and engagement with the workplace; curricular integra-
tion of workplace learning and academic learning; student outcomes
that lead to employability; and meaningful transformative reflection.
Co-operative education, internships, community service learning,
applied research, work experiences, apprenticeships, entrepreneur-
ship, clinics, practicums and clinical placements, and field place-
ments are all models of curricular WIL.

In 2016, the United Nations launched 17 sustainable development
goals to address and end injustice and inequality around the world in
all countries, including Canada. SDG number four is to ensure
inclusive and quality education for all, and promote lifelong
learning, and can be accomplished through the development of
work-integrated learning that addresses the challenges of youth
unemployment or underemployment, job loss due to the changing
nature of work, and inequitable access to education.

Research indicates that WIL is considered a powerful mechanism
for developing employability skills in students. Students transition
from post-secondary to workplaces more readily, and employers
prefer students graduating from WIL programs. These employability
outcomes point to a model of education that creates strong returns on
public investment in education and that leads to lower youth
unemployment and underemployment.
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In the case of WIL that is paid—for example, co-operative
education—post-secondary education becomes more affordable as
the burden of tuition is ameliorated by salaries earned during the
WIL experience. For example, across Canada there were over 70,000
co-op work terms last year, each one earning on average $10,000 per
term. This amounts to over $700 million in earned co-op student
salaries last year.

Students who participate in work-integrated learning have the
opportunity to develop learner agency and autonomy through WIL,
which helps students understand their personal strengths and
weaknesses in the workplace and beyond. Early exposure to
community and industry can help students refine their interests
and passions, make informed decisions about study direction and
career aims, develop their own professional identity, and develop a
professional network of contacts before they graduate from post-
secondary education. International WIL experiences that allow for
the development of intercultural capabilities and broader world
views enhance the competitiveness of Canadian graduates on the
global stage. These aspects of WIL help provide students with the
capabilities required to adapt to an unpredictable, rapidly changing
21st century future.

The Association of American Colleges & Universities advocates
for the integration of high-impact practices such as WIL into the
student learning experience. The inclusion of these high-impact
practices into student education provides opportunities for histori-
cally underserved students to access post-secondary education and
increases both student retention and engagement.

As an example, the University of Victoria has a number of WIL
programs that work with indigenous students. The LE,NONET
program provides indigenous students with community or research
internships, and the indigenous co-op program provides indigenous
students with support in finding work terms, including those within
indigenous communities.

In summary, WIL has many benefits to the academic institution,
industry, and students and addresses youth unemployment and
underemployment, job losses due to the changing nature of work,
and inequitable access to education.

This brief provides a recommendation to the standing committee
on ways to provide support and guidance to academic institutions
and industry stakeholders to further develop quality WIL programs.
There is a need for the following: one, curriculum for students,
employers, and practitioners that can be a resource for WIL
programs across Canada; two, a Canadian quality assurance
framework; and three, innovative assessment of learning outcomes
and longitudinal research to understand the impact of WIL on
student employability, workplace productivity and innovation, and
the ability for students to be the leaders for the future in creating a
better world.

® (1555)

While there is evidence that WIL can help to combat youth
unemployment and underemployment, more work needs to be done
to develop new curriculum and experiences that can better prepare
all Canadian WIL graduates with the skills, knowledge, and abilities
to adapt to and flourish in global and diverse workplaces.
Developing new and innovative WIL curriculum is critical, as a

new cohort of students, generation Z, has recently begun entering
post-secondary institutions.

Generation Z is the first to have experienced childhood with ready
access to digital and Internet technology. The way they learn in the
classroom and engage in the workplace is unique compared to
previous generations due to their technological proficiency. As such,
WIL pedagogy needs to adapt to the shifting needs of students
immersed in a technology-based world, as well as the changing
needs of the 21st century workplace.

In Canada, we are unique in the world in having an accreditation
process for co-operative education. This accreditation, administered
through CEWIL Canada, has established a set of quality standards
and a quality assurance process for co-operative education programs
across the country. As WIL grows, there is a need to establish quality
and rigour in programs to ensure desired outcomes. Developing a
Canadian quality assurance framework for all forms of WIL is
essential and would continue our global reputation of excellence in
WIL.

Supporting these recommendations will allow the Canadian
community of WIL educators, practitioners, employers, and
researchers to make significant strides in building and innovating
effective WIL programs. Lasting impact will be realized with
educational institutions, students, our graduates, and workplaces
across Canada and will benefit Canadian society as a whole.

Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you very much. Also, thank you for staying
under time. That was great.

We're going now to Patrick Snider, director of skills and
immigration policy, at the Canadian Chamber of Commerce.

Mr. Patrick Snider (Director, Skills and Immigration Policy,
Canadian Chamber of Commerce): Mr. Chair, vice-chairs, and
committee members, I appreciate the chance to speak to the human
resources, skills and social development committee on the issue of
work-integrated learning.

The Canadian Chamber of Commerce and our members are
passionate supporters of work-integrated learning and skills devel-
opment. The future development of the workforce is a major subject
of study and a top priority for us. Highly skilled human resources are
a driver of business growth and a pillar of Canadian competitiveness.
First I will provide a little background on our organization.
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The Canadian Chamber of Commerce is committed to increasing
prosperity throughout Canada. We envision a Canada where anyone
can start and grow their own business in a competitive and
successful economy.

We are a strictly non-partisan organization. Regardless of who is
in office, we want to see a Canada that succeeds. Much like political
parties themselves, our support comes from the grassroots. We draw
our strength from 450 chambers of commerce and boards of trade
that represent over 200,000 businesses of every size and in every
sector in every region of Canada.

Our members have repeatedly told us that skills gaps and the
challenge of finding the right workers are some of the biggest issues
they face. Work-integrated learning is crucial for bridging those gaps
and connecting talented young Canadians to long-lasting, high-
quality careers.

That is one reason we published the report, “Skills for an
Automated Future”, earlier this year, which examines the question of
skills development and changing workplaces. It looks at Canada's
changing labour market and offers a number of recommendations for
connecting Canadians with jobs.

Our report is based on the best current data, informed by the
experiences of employers, educators, and students themselves, which
we heard through a series of round table discussions across the
country.

We heard unanimous support for students getting high-quality,
paid work experience related to their educational programs. Work-
integrated learning is key to developing the kinds of skills that will
be necessary in the future economy.

Things like professionalism, personal initiative, critical thinking,
and entrepreneurship are all skills that are developed on the job.
These durable skills will continue to be relevant no matter what
technology is adopted or what changes occur to the labour market or
our businesses.

Businesses see the value of taking on students for work
experience. It supports the hiring process by giving employers and
students the chance to test drive positions and people and find the
best fit. It is associated with productivity gains and a strong fit
between employees and their positions.

Furthermore, the recent meeting of B7 representatives affirmed
the importance of the role of business in workforce development.
Important roles like supporting inclusive growth, co-ordinating with
educators to promote skills that are in demand, and promoting work-
integrated learning and workforce retraining opportunities have all
been affirmed by not only the Canadian Chamber of Commerce, but
our partners throughout the G7 countries around the world.

Many companies are able to successfully participate in work-
integrated learning programs. We have heard many examples of
success stories in our conversations—Ilarge companies from Ottawa
to Vancouver and everywhere in-between. However, demand for
these positions continues to exceed the ability of employers to
provide them in the numbers that they are required.

Government must remember that the vast majority of businesses
in Canada are small and medium enterprises that may not have the

same resources as our large companies to provide WIL opportu-
nities. Many lack dedicated human resources professionals to be able
to apply for the funding and navigate higher education partnerships,
or the financial resources to provide temporary employment to
learners.

These companies would benefit greatly from the talent, energy,
and support of learners. They would also be able to provide a wide
range of experiences by giving the perspective of a smaller
enterprise. If we want youth to learn entrepreneurship, then there
is no better place for them than working with entrepreneurs.

There is a role for government to create incentives supporting paid
work-integrated learning positions. Especially for small and medium
enterprises, support needs to be accessible and targeted.

Existing programs such as the Canada summer jobs program are
important; however, barriers like inflexible timelines for applications
or limits on the age of participants can prevent students from making
full use of these programs. Streamlining applications, creating more
flexible timelines, and offering support to a wider range of students
would improve access to these positions.

At the same time, information needs to be gathered and
disseminated more effectively. The pathways between education
and employment are less obvious today than they have been
previously. Data needs to be gathered in more detail to guide
students between their educational programs and gainful employ-
ment. Many industries are clamouring for workers and particular
skills, but students lack reliable information on what those are and
how to join them.

We support a move towards more detailed labour market
information. Businesses and students require a system that looks at
the supply and demand of skills and competencies more broadly,
rather than formal qualifications alone.

® (1600)

Last, we would like to remind the committee that work-integrated
learning is a competitive advantage for attracting international talent
to Canada. We are in a global race to attract the world's best and
brightest. Ensuring that students who come to Canada can participate
in work-integrated learning will help maintain our position as a hub
of ideas and innovation. This can be supported in a number of
specific ways.
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Allowing international students to be eligible for programs such as
the Canada summer jobs program would help students and
businesses. Ensuring that student work permits allow international
students to participate in co-op terms without obtaining a separate
work permit would also help streamline participation. Last, counting
time spent in Canada for studies towards citizenship eligibility would
speed the process of transitioning to permanent residency.

Those are just a few examples of steps that could help better align
work and study in Canada for global talent. We hope that you will
take these recommendations into account as you make your report.

Thank you again for this opportunity to speak.
® (1605)
The Chair: Thank you, sir.

Now, from Co-operative Education and Work-Integrated Learning
Canada, we have Kristine Dawson, president-elect, and Anne-Marie
Fannon, past president.

Welcome to both of you.

Ms. Anne-Marie Fannon (Past President, Co-operative
Education and Work-Integrated Learning Canada):

Thank you very much, Mr. Chair and honourable committee
members, for the opportunity to speak about our association, Co-
operative Education and Work-Integrated Learning Canada. My
name is Anne-Marie Fannon, and I'm past president. I will share my
time with my colleague Kristine Dawson, president elect.

CEWIL Canada represents over 90 post-secondary institutions,
universities, colleges, and polytechnics located in every province in
the country. Our expertise lies in connecting students to industry and
community partners, ensuring quality experiences for all stake-
holders. As practitioners, we see on a daily basis the tangible
benefits for students who engage in work-integrated learning. They
gain real-world experience, develop important transferable skills,
build their professional network, develop career clarity, and, in many
instances, earn critical income to support their education.

Our employer partners gain access to flexible, cost-effective,
student employees, and to a high-quality talent pipeline. Studies
done in the U.S. show that student hires make the best source of
incoming talent. Former interns receive higher performance
appraisals, are promoted faster, and stay longer. When delivered as
a true partnership among the student, post-secondary institution, and
employer, work-integrated learning is simply win-win-win.

For the past 45 years, our volunteer-driven association has worked
to transcend provincial boundaries and have impact at the national
level. As Norah mentioned, in 1979, we established an accreditation
service which set the standards for post-secondary co-operative
education programming in Canada. In addition to setting quality
parameters, this led to the establishment of a national definition of
“co-op”, which requires, among other attributes, that all work terms
in Canada be paid.

CEWIL recently launched a bilingual, national statistics database
to collect information on the number of co-op work terms in Canada,
including details on location, employer, and salary paid to the
student. While we are still working toward 100% reporting from our

members, the initial data we've collected on over 112,000 co-op
work terms is very promising.

Last year, CEWIL expanded its mandate from co-operative
education to all forms of work-integrated learning. With our
expanded mandate, we aim to build capacity for Canadian
practitioners, creating more pathways to employment for Canada's
youth, and establishing national quality standards for all forms of
WIL.

In February of this year, CEWIL brought together key
stakeholders to engage in a conversation on the future of WIL in
Canada. Our event had a broad spectrum of participants, including
six ministries of advanced education, the Public Service Commis-
sion, StatsCan, ESDC, Universities Canada, CICan, polytechnics,
Mitacs, and industry representatives from all of the student work-
integrated learning program partners. During that meeting, we
explored ways to support the growth of WIL at the national level,
including developing common language, data collection, and
establishing a national strategy for work-integrated learning. We
will continue this work with a second national conversation in
Montreal on August 2.

Forty years ago, CEWIL members met with representatives from
the federal government to advocate that any federal funds dedicated
to co-operative education programming be done with quality and
sustainability in mind. We are here to echo that message today. We
applaud the federal government's investments in work-integrated
learning and encourage further investments that have impact at the
system level. While education falls under provincial jurisdiction, the
federal government can and should play a role in supporting
initiatives that will help build capacity at the national level and better
prepare Canada's youth to compete on the global stage.

I will now ask Kristine to share some of our recommendations.

Ms. Kristine Dawson (President-Elect, Co-operative Educa-
tion and Work-Integrated Learning Canada): Thank you, Anne.
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I would like to highlight a few key elements of the brief submitted
by CEWIL Canada to this committee. Our engaged practitioner-
members are dedicated to supporting the school-to-work transition
and can provide valuable consultation to both this committee and
future federal initiatives.

Federal government support is critically required for the creation
of a cohesive national strategy to address challenges, identify
opportunities, and focus on outcomes associated with WIL. CEWIL
is ideally positioned to bring together and facilitate collaboration
with a variety of interested stakeholders to strengthen work-
integrated and experiential learning across the nation. In 2015,
Australia created a national strategy for WIL involving its federal
government, business council, chamber of commerce, and post-
secondary associations. This is a model that Canada should explore.

Concurrently, Canada needs to build infrastructure to better
understand, operationalize, and assess the impact of WIL programs
at a national level. Specifically, CEWIL recommends that the
government fund the expansion of the the national co-op statistics
database to include participation rates in other forms of WIL such as
internships and practicums.

CEWIL endorses the student work-integrated learning program
operated by ESDC and sees it as an important step towards
increasing WIL participation across STEM and business sectors.
However, we recommend that the program also provide funding
subsidies for not-for-profit organizations and public sector indus-
tries, particularly health care and community organizations where
WIL opportunities for students are often unpaid. By extending
SWILP wage subsidies to the public and not-for-profit sectors, the
federal government has the opportunity to introduce systemic change
within these industries, encouraging and fostering a culture of paid
employment for student workers, as well as providing increased
support for indigenous students and students with disabilities, who
are disproportionately enrolled in programs that are currently
excluded from funding.

While SWILP funds 16-week work terms, one of the challenges of
the current design of the Canada summer jobs program is that many
positions are only funded for eight weeks, which is not enough time
to meet co-op work term credit requirements. It also leaves many
students in the arts and humanities, or those who want to engage in
community organizations or the not-for-profit sector, either working
unpaid for the remaining weeks, or scrambling to secure other
employment. Funding summer jobs between eight and 16 weeks
would offer the flexibility that students need.

®(1610)

Finally, CEWIL also encourages the government to extend
funding support to include a demographic group critical to Canada's
economic success, international students. According to the Canadian
Bureau for International Education, 51% of international students
plan on applying for permanent residence in Canada. Extending
funding eligibility to this group would increase their chances of
gaining valuable Canadian work experience leading to permanent
residency and ultimately their ability to successfully transition into
the Canadian workforce driving innovation and prosperity.

Again, thank you for this opportunity. Our membership believes
that collectively we can work together to build partnerships for the
betterment of Canadian youth.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Now from Mitacs we have Gail Bowkett, director of innovation
policy.

Ms. Gail Bowkett (Director, Innovation Policy, Mitacs): Thank
you, Mr. Chair, vice-chairs, and all the members of the committee,
first of all for leading this study, and for including Mitacs in today's
proceedings. It's a real pleasure to be here with all of my colleagues
around the table. I think you will find there is a very strong
alignment among all of the comments we're here to make today.

I am really pleased to be here representing Mitacs. I hope Mitacs
is a name that's familiar to you and that it's an organization you are
all familiar with to some degree, but I will give you a quick overview
of who we are as an organization and what we do in the interest of
providing some context to the points that I want to raise with the
committee today.

Mitacs is a national not-for-profit organization. We are based out
of the University of British Columbia in Vancouver. For 17 years
now we have been providing work-integrated learning experiences
primarily to graduate students in the form of scientifically valid
research internships with industry partners, complemented by a
series of professional development and skills training workshops.

Our programming is inclusive across all disciplines, from the
social sciences and humanities to STEM, but we also support
multidisciplinary research. We work across a range of industries,
both in the private sector and in the not-for-profit sector. We work
with companies large and small, and our programming is offered
both domestically and internationally.

We have grown from the initial focus on graduate-level students,
Ph.D. and master's students and post-docs, to the full spectrum of
Canadian post-secondary education. We have very recently opened
eligibility to our core program to the college and polytechnic sector.
We're very excited to see what projects come out of that. That was
launched about two months ago. We're currently looking at
expanding to undergraduates, initially in Quebec.

We have also recently begun offering a program of first job
placements as a delivery agent of the youth employment strategy of
the Government of Canada.
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All of our programming is based on the research internship model.
We're focused on research, entrepreneurship, and commercialization.
We are currently delivering about 6,000 internships per year, and we
are on a growth trajectory to reach a target of 10,000 internships per
year by the year 2020.

I know the committee has heard from a number of witnesses
throughout this study. I have read several of the submissions that
have been provided to the committee, and I think a very clear picture
has already been painted in terms of the uncertainty of the labour
market due to a number of factors. We've heard some of that again
today, so I won't repeat those issues again here, but I think there is a
very clear understanding that success in the labour market will be
increasingly challenging for our young people.

Within this landscape, experiential learning, particularly work-
integrated learning, is increasingly important to ensure that young
people have the skills they need to transition into the workforce,
particularly for graduates of our post-secondary education institu-
tions.

Mitacs is a key player in the Government of Canada's innovation
and skills agenda. We have a significant investment from the
Government of Canada over five years to support our growth to that
target of 10,000 placements per year. We leverage this funding with
provincial funding in every province across the country, and we
leverage that again with investment from the private sector
companies for every internship that they host. All of our internships
are paid.

I'm happy to follow up with the committee to provide additional
details on Mitacs' programming if that is of interest and would be
helpful, but I'll move quickly now to the three simple recommenda-
tions that I'd like to put forward to the committee today for
consideration.

The first one is that Canada's support to experiential learning be
inclusive to all levels of post-secondary education. Much of the
discussion around work-integrated learning focuses on the under-
graduate level, but let's ensure that we continue to incorporate
opportunities for graduate students and post-docs. These are highly
trained, highly qualified, highly educated individuals who will be
leaders in innovation and in our economy. Providing work-integrated
learning experiences to students at this level gives them the chance
to test out their skills in real-world situations, explore new career
opportunities, and transition into meaningful employment outside of
academia.

®(1615)

The second recommendation would be that research internships
are recognized as valuable work-integrated learning experiences,
both for students and for the industry partners. As such, these are
really a strategic tool for Canada.

There are many forms of work-integrated learning, but the
research-focused opportunities bring benefit not only to the students
but also to the companies that are accessing talent at a time in the
lives of those young people when they are making strategic career
decisions. The companies are increasing investments in industrial
research and development, and they're advancing their own

innovation and talent goals. It also helps to improve the absorbative
capacity of industry to take on graduate-level students and post-docs.

The third recommendation is around expanding international
experiences within experiential learning. International experiences
are critical for young Canadians to build global competencies that
they will increasingly need in this globalized labour market.

Once again I thank the committee for undertaking this study and
doing this deep dive on the crucial role that experiential learning
plays in developing work-ready skills in our young post-secondary
graduates. These experiences must be inclusive to all levels, leverage
the knowledge in research capabilities of our young graduates, and
be global in scope. Investments in our young people today are
investments in the economic prosperity of our country.

Thank you very much.

The Chair: Thank you very much. Now from the University of
Waterloo Centre for the Advancement of Co-operative Education we
have Judene Pretti. The next seven minutes are all yours.

Ms. Judene Pretti (Director, Waterloo Centre for the
Advancement of Co-operative Education, University of Water-
loo): Good afternoon and thank you very much, Mr. Chair and
distinguished committee members, for the invitation to appear to talk
to you today about the University of Waterloo and its co-operative
education program. WATCACE is the short form for the Waterloo
Centre for the Advancement of Co-operative Education.

You've heard from my CEWIL colleagues about the model of co-
op, and about its role in supporting students and employers in
meaningful education that equips students with the skills and
experiences that they need to be successful in their desired pathways
following graduation.

In my comments today, I would like to highlight a few unique
characteristics of Waterloo's co-op program, as well as the ways that
Canada could work toward global leadership in the broader area of
work-integrated learning.

One of the most notable aspects of Waterloo's co-op program is its
scale, and I will share a few numbers with you.

Between 2007 and 2017, the number of paid, four-month work
terms that Waterloo supported grew from 12,900 per year to 21,600
per year. This currently represents about 68% of the undergraduate
students across all six faculties at the university. We have 6,900
active employers from more than 60 countries that hire our co-op
students. Last year we processed over one million job applications in
our system and supported 67,000 in-person, web, and phone
interviews. This led to a 97.7% employment rate. The numbers are
staggering, but for us at Waterloo, it's not just about quantity. It's also
about quality.
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The post-graduation employment rate of co-op students at 89% is
similar to the provincial average of 88%. However, where co-op
students stand out is that 96% of them report that they are employed
in positions related to skills they developed during their degree,
compared to a provincial average of 74%. Additionally, two years
after graduation, 79% of the co-op students report earning more than
$50,000 annually, compared to 39% across the province.

That leads me to talk about another notable area of our co-op
practice at Waterloo. In 2006, we established WatPD, a mandatory
professional development program for our co-op students. WatPD
delivers online courses to enhance key or transferable skills,
including topics such as communication, teamwork, and intercultural
skills. Last year we used the WatPD program and many of the best
practices learned in delivering co-op for the past 60 years to build a
new, flexible, work-integrated learning certificate known as EDGE.
For non-co-op students, EDGE guides them through the process of
learning how to identify and articulate the skills that they're
developing throughout their undergraduate career.

Also unique to Waterloo is the existence of a research unit focused
on co-op. In 2002, the Waterloo Centre for the Advancement of Co-
operative Education was established. This is the department that I
now lead. Our mandate is to conduct, facilitate, and mobilize
research on co-op and other forms of work-integrated learning.

Through our research, we have identified the factors that affect the
quality of the work-term experience for students. These factors
include whether students felt that the work was relevant to their
academic or career interests, whether students had the opportunity to
contribute meaningfully to the workplace they were in, and whether
they had the opportunity to develop and learn new skills.

We have also investigated supervisors' perspectives on co-op, and
we found that most view co-op from both an employment and an
education perspective; i.e., they view co-op students in the
workplace both as learners and as workers. Most recently, we've
explored employers' views on talent, their needs for talent, and how
many view co-op as a talent pipeline for their organizations.

We have undertaken a number of mobilization activities in
WATCACE, including publications in international, peer-reviewed
journals. We have a monthly newsletter where practitioners provide
their perspectives on work-integrated learning research, and we've
recently launched a research portal, a website that links to research
related to co-op and other forms of work-integrated learning. We
have plans for providing additional resources through the portal and
support for a community of practice.

A very interesting aspect of research in co-op and work-integrated
learning is the fact that it offers the opportunity for studies in a wide
variety of disciplines.

® (1620)

Through my experience in WATCACE, I have had the opportunity
to work with researchers studying co-op from fields such as mental
health, social psychology, and education. I have also worked with
industrial organizational psychologists—indeed, a scientist—in
examining the many workplace-related research questions that the
co-op work term presents.

With respect to Canada's potential global leadership in work-
integrated learning, I see research as a key element. As has been
mentioned by my colleagues, there's a great deal that can be learned
from Australia, which has mobilized a national strategy around WIL,
and has a steady stream of research activity taking place. Globally,
there is a strong and growing group of researchers in this field. With
support, Canada would be well-situated to lead this community.

We need to encourage more research to be conducted on the
various models of work-integrated learning, to better understand and
document the impact on students, community and industry partners,
as well as the academic institutions. For instance, there is increasing
interest in models of WIL that support students exploring their
interests as entrepreneurs. Research is needed to better understand
this link between WIL and the development of entrepreneurs.

From the employer perspective, research is needed to examine the
impact of WIL on organizational effectiveness, particularly as it
relates to productivity, innovation, and the global reach of Canadian
industry. From the academic institution perspective, we need to
better understand the balance between the outcomes of various
models of WIL and the associated institutional costs to support those
programs.

Building a national strategy to increase awareness, interest, and
commitment to research in this area is critical to ensuring that the
federal investment in creating and expanding WIL programs
achieves its desired results. As well, I strongly believe that a
national strategy would represent an opportunity for Canada to be a
world leader in the research and practice of work-integrated learning.

Thank you once again, Mr. Chair and distinguished committee
members, for the opportunity to speak with you today.

® (1625)

The Chair: Are you sure you don't need any more time? Okay,
I'm just checking. I never get tired of hearing those numbers. Thank
you.

First up with questions, we have MP Blaney, please.

Hon. Steven Blaney (Bellechasse—Les Etchemins—Lévis,
CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Before entering this committee, we had the Olympic champions in
the House of Commons. It seems that now we're with the champions
of work-integrated learning.

My first comment is for the analysts. It would be interesting to see
how we compare on the international level with our numbers in
Canada of post-secondary students embarking on work-integrated
learning. From what you've said, global leadership is certainly in
terms of research, but are we....
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Welcome everyone. It's really encouraging to hear you. Mr. May
is a strong advocate of Waterloo University. I graduated from the co-
op system at Sherbrooke University, which was actually inspired by
Waterloo

[Translation]

And so I did my studies in a francophone environment. My
nephew is also a Sherbrooke graduate.

[English]
I won't tell you the year, though, because it's been a little while.
My question is for the witness in Victoria, Ms. Norah McRae.

Is it difficult to find employers for co-op students?

Dr. Norah McRae: Your question was for me, and the question
was whether it's difficult to find employers.

I would think that most co-op programs across the country or
work-integrated learning programs would say that an ongoing
element of work is to find appropriate employers who would provide
the kind of environment that will allow students to learn and grow
and develop. However, there have been some recent advancements
that have helped significantly, like the student work-integrated
learning program, which is the federal funding that provides wage
subsidies to employers hiring students. That helps a lot. Any kind of
financial incentives that support students, in paying.... We strongly
advocate that they should be paid experiences, where possible—not
always. Any kind of financial incentives make a big difference.

The gentleman from the Chamber of Commerce spoke very
eloquently about the importance of the small-to-medium enterprise
sector in this endeavour. Many small-to-medium enterprises would
very much like to participate in hiring students, but they don't have
the finances and they don't have HR capacity. They have a hard time
bringing students on board and supporting them. I think there's a
tremendous opportunity here to help build the capacity of small to
medium enterprises such that they can engage in WIL more
effectively.

Hon. Steven Blaney: Thank you.

As you spoke, I saw a couple of heads nodding. Would you like to
add something to this question of whether it is hard to find
employers—which it is—but...incentives? Maybe you can elaborate,
Ms. Dawson.

Ms. Kristine Dawson: I'm here representing CEWIL Canada, but
my day job is as the director of co-op, career, and work-integrated
learning at Conestoga College, which is down the street from the
University of Waterloo. This has been my field of work for the past
18 years.

What I would say, as a practitioner, is that it can be difficult to find
co-op employers. It really can depend on the sector. There are times
when demand outstrips the supply of students, and then there are
times when supply exceeds demand. Finding that match can be the
challenge.

To Norah's point, wage subsidies are of great benefit. In Ontario
we have the significant, I think, benefit of being able to access the
Ontario co-operative education tax credit, which is also a significant
benefit in terms of promoting co-operative education.

©(1630)

To the point made by my colleague Patrick, on-boarding in small
businesses is a significant challenge, so they need the HR resources
and support. Often in post-secondary institutions we have staff in
roles that help, consult, and work with small businesses, helping
them develop job descriptions, and that helps to be able to bring on
the students.

Hon. Steven Blaney: Mr. Snider.
Mr. Patrick Snider: Thank you.

I'd just like to reiterate some of the points that have been made so
far.

Financial support, of course, is very important for small and
medium-sized—

Hon. Steven Blaney: Do you mean an incentive from the
government in the form of a tax credit for the employers that are
hiring co-op students? Is that what you're suggesting?

Mr. Patrick Snider: That kind of support, absolutely. Most
important of all, though, is making sure that it's accessible. One of
the points that we continue to make is about reducing the
administrative burden of applying for things. Programs like the
summer jobs, as | mentioned earlier, are excellent and they provide a
high degree of support, but sometimes the timelines of the
applications required can be more of a challenge.

Hon. Steven Blaney: I'm sorry to cut you off, Mr. Snider, but my
time is limited.

Summer jobs are not within a program; therefore, they can be
related or not related to your field of experience.

It seems as if it's the best way of learning. Why is it just a small
percentage and mostly in the technical fields that we see this kind of
approach? Could it be in other areas?

Can you elaborate on why we are just doing it for, let's say,
engineers and others in the technical fields?

Ms. Judene Pretti: I would say our experience has been that we
started with an engineering program in 1957 and it has expanded to
be across all programs, including graduate. The University of
Victoria has a high percentage of graduate students participating in
co-op, and that's not just in the STEM disciplines.

I think we have experience in the co-op field for those kinds of
work terms, and it's just a matter of sharing practices to encourage
employers to consider students who are in non-STEM fields.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Long.

Mr. Wayne Long (Saint John—Rothesay, Lib.): Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Thank you to our presenters this afternoon. It's very, very
interesting.
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My background is in small business and I'll get to some of those
questions for Mr. Snider in a few minutes.

Lat year our government began rolling out a $73-million
investment for the student work-integrated learning program to
create 10,000 paid student work placements over the next four years.
The intent is to facilitate stronger partnerships between employers
and partnering polytechnics, universities, and colleges. In addition,
budget 2017 announced $220 million for Mitacs to provide research
internships with the goal of creating 10,000 work placements per
year. ESDC also committed that more than 400 of the work
placements under the student work-integrated learning program
would be allocated primarily to post-secondary students from under-
represented groups in STEM fields.

Ms. Bowkett, how will these investments in work-integrated
learning complement and help bolster existing co-op and work-
integrated learning programs?

®(1635)

Ms. Gail Bowkett: Are you asking specifically about the Mitacs
model?

Mr. Wayne Long: Yes.

Ms. Gail Bowkett: I think what distinguishes the Mitacs model is
the focus on the applied research element of our placements. In many
cases work-integrated learning opportunities do not necessarily have
that research focus. All the research projects we support go through a
peer review process so they are all validated scientifically.

We have a team of people across the country that work with the
business partners and the academic institutions to develop a shared
goal, a shared interest, around a research project that will serve the
innovation needs of the company, but also benefit the student in their
own research programming. I think that has been the distinguishing
feature.

As I mentioned, we began with a real focus on graduate students.
We started initially with Ph.D. students and expanded to post-docs
and master's as well. We are looking at that layer within post-
secondary institutions. Those are our roots; that's where we began.
We see the need for this research focus of work experience right
across all levels of PSE institutions, and across all disciplines as
well.

Mr. Wayne Long: That's perfect. Thank you for that.

Saint John—Rothesay, my riding, leads the country in child
poverty. We have some major generational poverty issues. The 30%
overall poverty rate is twice the national average.

In my constituency office we work with young people from low-
income households, struggling to transition into the workforce and
find well-paying jobs. Do you believe the work-integrated learning
program investments adequately target young people from such
backgrounds? Is there more we can do to target those from under-
represented groups? I want to get a comment from Ms. Dawson and
Ms. Fannon, after you, Ms. Bowkett.

Ms. Gail Bowkett: That's an interesting question. Obviously the
Mitacs programming is very much focused on people coming
through the post-secondary education system. I think beyond those
opportunities there are other government programs in place that help

to support employment of young people, and maybe we need to
consider work-integrated learning experiences before kids get to the
point where they're at a university or a college.

That's not an area we are currently operating in. Others may have
different experiences or expertise with that, but I think Canada
should consider that.

Mr. Wayne Long: Mr. Dawson and Ms. Fannon, I know you
would like to see funding target more non-profits and adequately
target under-represented groups. How do you see that flowing out?

Ms. Anne-Marie Fannon: As we mentioned, we have received
statistics that indigenous students and students with disabilities are
disproportionately enrolled in programs like social sciences and the
humanities. Right now with this program being limited to students
who are only enrolled in STEM and business industries we're not
reaching the broad spectrum of Canadian post-secondary students.

The other thing we're not accounting for is that those arts and
humanities students can be working in those STEM and business
industries. The question of how we expand beyond STEM co-op
students, is one of the things that we speak very specifically about at
Waterloo.

My day job is the director of our professional development
program at the University of Waterloo, and we have a centralized co-
op model, which means that in most instances every student can
apply for every position, and it's up to the students to articulate their
skill set to the employer and convince the employer that they can do
the job. That's much more reflective of the labour market.

We see graduates working in a spectrum of positions that may or
may not be directly related to their academic program. When we
think about those centralized open accessible models for our students
we're helping every Canadian post-secondary student.

Mr. Wayne Long: Thank you.

Thank you, Chair.

The Chair: Now we'll move to MP Sansoucy, please.

[Translation]

Ms. Brigitte Sansoucy (Saint-Hyacinthe—Bagot, NDP): I thank
all of the witnesses. I will have questions for you.
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T know we asked you to be patient in the beginning of the meeting.
I would ask you to kindly wait a little longer because I need to speak
to the committee about another topic. As it is something that affects
one Canadian out of two, I think you will agree.

Mr. Chair, I'd like to take a minute to explain to my committee
colleagues why I would like us to vote on the motion I tabled
concerning employment insurance sickness benefits.

In the beginning of 2016, the minister told us that he would be
tabling an in-depth reform of the Employment Insurance Act. After
two and a half years, we are still waiting for it, which forces our
committee to urgently review various aspects of the Employment
Insurance Act. I would prefer that we study it in its entirety, but I
think it is important that our committee make recommendations
concerning sickness benefits. That aspect of the act has not changed
since 1971. But in the intervening 47 years, reality has changed.

As I said earlier, one Canadian out of two will be affected or is
affected by cancer. These people are working men and women. One-
third of the people who receive sickness benefits will use up all of
their 15 weeks of benefits. My colleagues and I see these people in
our riding offices. We are faced with people who find themselves
without any income after 15 weeks, while they're still undergoing
treatments. Not everyone has access to private insurance. It makes no
sense whatsoever that the mother of a single-parent family has to go
back to work when her doctor tells her she needs to rest after
chemotherapy or radiation therapy.

I invite my colleagues to vote in favour of this motion so that we
can deal with what is most urgent. I hope that we will conduct a
general study on employment insurance rather than going about
things piecemeal like this. Six hundred thousand people throughout
Canada signed a petition saying that this is important to them.
Millions of workers have said how important this is. I think we have
to listen to them.

® (1640)
[English]
The Chair: Thank you.
We have Mr. Long and then Mr. Blaney

Mr. Wayne Long: Mr. Chair, I'd like to move that the debate be
now adjourned, please.

The Chair: We have a motion to adjourn debate on this motion.

Would you like a recorded vote?
[Translation]
Ms. Brigitte Sansoucy: Yes, please.
[English]
The Chair: Okay.
(Motion agreed to: yeas 5; nays 4 [See Minutes of Proceedings))

The Chair: Madam Sansoucy, you started that motion with about
five minutes and 27 seconds left. Would you wish to use that time for
questions?

[Translation]

Ms. Brigitte Sansoucy: Yes, indeed. Thank you very much.

I will begin with Mr. Snider. Your organization is very consistent.
What you suggested as a recommendation, your organization was
already involved in in 2014: that subsidies be granted to employers
to allow them to offer work-integrated apprenticeships, and that
more research be done by the government on productivity gains
related to this type of apprenticeship.

A group of experts on youth employment made several
recommendations. That group also found thought it quite important
that mentorship be encouraged. In my riding, several employers told
me that they wanted to have such a program.

Given your organization's expertise, you suggested that granting
such subsidies could encourage the hiring of young people. I'd like
to know how we can encourage the success of this program. The
group of experts on youth employment recommended that we put
together an issue table to create such a program in partnership with
enterprises and employers. The organization told us that the
government should act quickly so that the program that is put
forward meets the expected objectives.

Would that be a good recommendation, in your opinion?
[English]

Mr. Patrick Snider: I'd say that the recommendation to maintain
a round table on feedback and get the input from business as to the
results of the program is absolutely still a priority.

One thing that we continually emphasize is to make sure that
business is included in the process, and that they are listened to when
it comes to the outcomes of these programs. I think that absolutely
yes, that's still an area where there is a need to make sure, once these
programs are put in place, there is accountability, measurement of
outcomes.

® (1645)

To give a few examples, we've seen ESDC do some excellent
work lately around the outcomes of educational programs using tax
data, using employment records, and using employment insurance
records. This kind of use of administrative data can be extremely
helpful. Student loan records—all of these things can give very
strong data points around the effectiveness of these programs. I think
that, moving forward, as these funding models are put into place and
more resources are given to different programs for supporting work-
integrated learning, these other feedback mechanisms will become
extremely important and should be looked at as those are rolled out.

[Translation]

Ms. Brigitte Sansoucy: My second question is for the Mitacs
representative.

You referred to 6,000 internships, with 10,000 more to come.
These are paid internships, if I understood correctly. In light of your
expertise, how much should students who want to acquire
professional experience while remaining afloat financially be paid?

As you probably know, the NDP recommends a minimum wage
of $15 an hour. That hourly wage would allow students to live
decently and to continue their studies.

Can you tell us what hourly wage should be paid to those young
people in order to compensate them adequately?
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[English]

Ms. Gail Bowkett: I can certainly tell you about our financial
model and how we cover the salaries of our interns. Our internships
are based on a four-month period. We call them internship units, just
for the sake of convenience, but a student can do one internship, two
internships back to back, or they could come back the next year. We
can use those units as building blocks to construct a research project
with our industry partner.

For every internship unit, the student will receive $10,000 over
that period, as their salary. There is also a little bit of financing that is
made available to the institutions to cover some of the actual
research costs involved in the projects, because the interns are co-
supervised by an academic supervisor and the outside partner, the
industry partner.

That's our current financial model.
[Translation]

Ms. Brigitte Sansoucy: Thank you.
My next question is addressed to the university representatives.

According to a Parliamentary Budget Officer study released in
2015, new Canadian university graduates have become increasingly
overqualified over the past 25 years, and young people are often
overqualified for the requirements of their profession. Is that
something you have also observed?

What potential solutions could there be to solve that problem?

On Monday we heard testimony from representatives of Canada's
Building Trades Unions. They said they found it unfortunate that the
best students are directed to jobs for which they are overqualified.
People who come through immigration also greatly value degrees.

Have you observed that as well? How can we fight this situation?
[English]

The Chair: We're out of time, but I'll allow for a brief answer,
please.

Ms. Anne-Marie Fannon: One of the things that we want to
highlight with work-integrated learning is that it really does give the
student that opportunity to gain some experience and almost what we
would call an entrée into the world of work while they're there.

Many employers indicate they're looking for at least one year of
experience, whether it's paid employment or co-curricular activities,
and those sorts of things. While we certainly are seeing an increase
in credentials across the country, one of the things that work-
integrated learning succeeds at is giving students that oftentimes-
paid work experience while they are in school so that they have that
professional network, they are able to move into positions more
easily, and as some of the statistics show, get promoted more quickly.

I'm not sure if there's anything else you want to add.
The Chair: Thank you. Actually, we do have to move on.

MP Fortier, please.
[Translation]

Mrs. Mona Fortier (Ottawa—Vanier, Lib.): Thank you very
much, Mr. Chair.

Good afternoon, everyone.

The chair will no doubt be pleased to learn that my husband is a
Waterloo graduate and was involved in a co-op program.

I'm from an urban environment and I have little knowledge about
the reality of businesses and associations that work in remote rural
areas.

How would enterprises or associations participate in co-op
programs in remote or rural areas?

To start, I'd like to hear the opinion of the representatives of Co-
operative Education and Work-Integrated Learning Canada,
Ms. Dawson and Ms. Fannon.

® (1650)
[English]

Ms. Kristine Dawson: Sure.

One of the advantages of paid co-op work terms is that because
students are earning an income and they're going to work for an
extended period of four months, sometimes back to back for 12
months, they will consider relocating for work. That does provide an
opportunity to take student talent from the institution they're learning
in to other communities.

That's one of the tasks—

Mrs. Mona Fortier: Are there many employers or associations in
the communities that are rural or éloignées that do ask for those
types of programs? What is the participation? Is it high?

Ms. Kristine Dawson: In terms of some statistics, in the
Northwest Territories, we have 1,590 work terms reported. That's a
significant quantity.

One of the jobs of the staff at our post-secondary institutions is to
go out and talk to employers, to promote. Really that's an
opportunity to expand the reach, to expand the resources to connect
with employers and let them know these students exist.

[Translation]

Mrs. Mona Fortier: Fine.

Ms. Bowkett, do you have any comments to add?
[English]

Ms. Gail Bowkett: I would quickly add to that. There are
institutions in communities, large and small, right across the country
and there is a lot of outreach happening in some of those smaller
communities. I think part of the beauty of work-integrated learning
experiences is that we can take students from institutions and extend
that to communities maybe where that institution is located.

As a very quick example, we have a very significant-sized project
in Cornwall, Nova Scotia, that is taking close to 100 interns over a
period of three or four years. We're definitely seeing interest from
those rural and more distanced communities.

[Translation]

Mrs. Mona Fortier: Fine. Thank you.
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Mr. Snider, does the Canadian Chamber of Commerce know if
there are any small and medium enterprises in remote or rural areas,
or even enterprises in urban areas, that have expressed a desire to
take part in this with co-op students?

[English]

Mr. Patrick Snider: 1 would say you are right that there is a
challenge having to do with that both in terms of the size of the
businesses that are involved and the distance to institutions of higher

learning. We see a number of challenges that face those. It's common
to a lot of small and medium-sized businesses.

Awareness is a big one, simply knowing that these programs exist
and what kind of commitment is involved. That's one of the things
we emphasize. I would say that Waterloo is a gold standard at this.
They make sure that they can navigate the process of applying either
to funding or to the programs themselves with universities, ensuring
that this process is as streamlined as possible to minimize the amount
of administrative and regulatory burden on the businesses that want
to take on these students.

You're right. There is a challenge there, and there are a number of
pathways that can be used to address it in terms of outreach,
streamlining the process, and providing the resources to take on
students.

[Translation]

Mrs. Mona Fortier: Ms. Fannon, in your presentation, you
mentioned wanting to do research on the capacity of enterprises to
take on co-op program students. Did I understand you correctly?
What I understood is that this concerned research on bilingualism.
Did you mention that?

[English]

Ms. Anne-Marie Fannon: Thank you.

What I was saying is that we have recently established a bilingual
national statistics database. We're collecting data on the location, the

employer, and the salary of all of the students who participate in co-
op work terms in Canada.

[Translation]
Mrs. Mona Fortier: Do you also gather data on the language of
work in the programs that are offered?

I'm asking the question because organizations like the Fédération
de la jeunesse canadienne-francaise and the Association des colleges
et universités de la francophonie canadienne are scouring the country
for minority community French-language positions for francophone
students.

I'm curious to know if you gather that information.
® (1655)

[English]

Ms. Anne-Marie Fannon: That's a great question.

I don't believe we currently do, although we are looking at adding
additional fields to our database. That's a great suggestion.
[Translation]

Mrs. Mona Fortier: Excellent.

This was a good exchange, thank you.

[English]
The Chair: Thank you very much.

Now we'll go to MP Morrissey, please.
Mr. Robert Morrissey (Egmont, Lib.): Thank you, Chair.

I'd like to follow up on previous points you made, Ms. Bowkett.

Regarding the 100 interns in Cornwall, I'm curious as to what was
driving that. Could you expand on that a bit more? It's in Cornwall,
Nova Scotia. You made a reference to it.

Ms. Gail Bowkett: Yes, that is a project we have with—and of
course, now that you have me on the spot I'm blanking on the
company's name, it's “something Seaplants”™—

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Is it Acadian Seaplants?

Ms. Gail Bowkett: It's Acadian Seaplants, yes, thank you very
much. They have a research facility based there. We sat down with
them and talked about their research program and their research
needs, and we put together, basically, what we call a cluster project
so that they can have access to interns over a number of years—three
or four years, I believe it is.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Okay, so how would that compare...?
Obviously, it's very successful. I know the company well. I know the
owners of the company—

Ms. Gail Bowkett: There you go.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: —but I wasn't aware that they were
participating at this level.

Briefly, if you could, what were you able to put together that
makes this work successfully? I'm interested in the longer duration.

Ms. Gail Bowkett: The internships per se will all continue to be
four months in duration. This is an example where we have used
them, basically, like Lego blocks. They can have five in one year, or
spread five out over two years, or build it all together. I'd have to get
back to you with the details on what the actual research out there
would be.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Is that unique to that project?

Ms. Gail Bowkett: No, that's the way we've designed our
programming. We can have projects that have a single internship,
and that's it. We can have projects that have two internships, five, 10.
We can really build them and stack them to meet the needs of the
industry partner.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Okay.

This question would be generally for anybody who may want to
comment. Over the past decade, have you observed any trends? I'll
go to the Canadian Chamber of Commerce as well, representing
business, but from the academic side have you observed any trends
that occur within this scope, that are leading you to do a different
analysis now? That's for whomever wants to respond.

Dr. McRae.

Dr. Norah McRae: Yes, or did you want Patrick from the
chamber to answer first?
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Mr. Robert Morrissey: I want to hear your answer, and then I'd
be interested in Patrick's answer.

Dr. Norah McRae: Generally, trends that I have seen are that we
have seen a general growth of work-integrated learning programs
across the country, so an expansion of different types and an
expansion in the number and range of programming. As has been
mentioned previously, you'd be hard pressed to not find institutions
that have work-integrated learning in a range of different academic
disciplines, so it's really not just in the STEM subjects anymore.
There is a growth in—

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Has that occurred in the past 10 years?

Dr. Norah McRae: There has been a growth in that, an expansion
of the breadth of the kinds of programming.

There's been a growth in the interest in international, both in terms
of students going out and international students coming in. All of our
institutions have experienced growth in the number of international
students on our campuses, and those students are very interested in
having work-integrated learning experiences in Canada and else-
where.

The national average for students studying abroad, according to
the Canadian Bureau for International Education, is about 2.5% to
3%. It's about three times that rate for students doing international
work-integrated learning because of the connection to career
development in an international context and the development of
global skills.

In my institution, we're seeing a growth in the engagement of
indigenous students in our programming. We're seeing that in some
instances, but I wouldn't say it's across the board.

Mr. Robert Morrissey: Thank you, Dr. McRae.

Mr. Snider.

Mr. Patrick Snider: We could identify a number of different
trends. If you look, for example, at the discussion around things like
the skills gap that employers are citing, I think you've seen a fairly
significant change in the nature of that conversation over the last 10
years. Previously you'd hear more of a focus on the lack of particular
technical skills, for instance, whereas now I think there's a broader
conversation about the demand for a wider range of more
professional skills, more adaptability skills. We're starting to see a
conversation around things like more general attributes, having a
growth mindset, professionalism, resilience, those kinds of things. I
think you have seen a change in what people are looking to get out
of working and creative learning experiences.

There's certainly a higher appreciation for them across the board. I
think more businesses are aware of them, and they're participating in
them, although there are still limits on how many are capable.
There's a broad agreement that they are increasingly an important
part.

Furthermore, you're seeing the participating students coming in
with a lot more awareness of the challenges in the job market. I think
there's an awareness they are coming into a more competitive
market. There's an increase in the acknowledgement that learning
isn't a one-time thing, that it's lifelong. You can identify a number of
trends that have been increasingly important over time. It depends on

which particular example. It's all part of an ongoing conversation
lately.

® (1700)
The Chair: That's excellent.

Thank you very much.

Now we'll move to MP Warawa, please.

Mr. Mark Warawa (Langley—Aldergrove, CPC): Thank you,
Chair.

Thank you to the witnesses.

Dr. McRae, you highlighted that a new curriculum and experience
is critical to the changing needs within the workplace.

My responsibility in this Parliament is to represent Canadian
seniors, and right now there are more seniors than there are youth.
One in six Canadians is a senior, and within 12 to 13 years it's going
to be one in four. There's this major demographic shift within
Canada. That brings challenges, but also opportunities. There are
opportunities for youth to be involved in geriatrics and home care,
huge opportunities for good high-quality jobs. You can advance
through different levels of geriatric care and even palliative care
positions.

My question has to do with this year's budget. The government
acknowledged the aging population, and said that as Canada's
population continues to age we need to prepare for the challenges
that seniors, especially senior women, face. That's because women
live longer. That's why budget 2018 proposes to provide $75 million
through the Public Health Agency of Canada to support the healthy
seniors pilot project.

Dr. McRae, would you see Victoria, western Canada, as a good
location to be considered for a pilot project on how to take care of
seniors better? The government has budgeted these dollars and the
question is, where would they be best spent? Could you do a one-
minute presentation on why Victoria would be a great place to have a
pilot project?

Dr. Norah McRae: Of course it would be a great place; it's
Victoria, after all. Isn't that the city of the newly wed and the nearly
dead? Isn't that the joke about Victoria—present company excluded,
of course.

Voices: Oh, oh!

Dr. Norah McRae: I'm sure I could connect you with the people
involved at the centre on aging. It's a very significant research centre
at the University of Victoria, dealing specifically with these issues on
health and wellness for our aging population, and how we can do a
better job of meeting this grey tidal wave, I think they call it, so we
can have the supports in place and a good quality of life for our
seniors. As you rightly pointed out, there are all sorts of interesting
work opportunities and future careers for individuals interested in
geriatric care and the importance of a quality of life for our seniors.

In a one-minute pitch, I think Victoria is a lovely place for that
kind of thing, a natural location for it, and we do have a centre on
aging that could provide the research chops to support that kind of
pilot.



14 HUMA-103

May 9, 2018

Mr. Mark Warawa: Thank you, Dr. McRae.
I have a question for Mr. Snider with the Chamber of Commerce.

My background is in small business. I've been a member of the
chamber for almost 30 years. Even as a member of Parliament, [
support our local chamber and really appreciate that it remains non-
partisan yet represents small business in a very necessary way. It also
provides advice to small businesses on how they can connect and
provide youth and the next generation with the experience they need.

There was a comment on the budget that came from the president
and CEO of the Canadian Chamber of Commerce, Perrin Beatty. He
said:

Canadian business asked the government to focus on fundamentals like the

growing competitiveness gap, the need to attract more private sector investment
and presenting a realistic plan to balance the government’s books.

He went on to say:

The United States is undertaking the most massive tax and regulatory update in
generations. Meanwhile, Canadian governments are moving in the opposite
direction by increasing costs and adding to the regulatory burden. We urgently
need [the] federal [government's] leadership to close that competitiveness gap to
prevent the loss of billions of dollars of investment from Canada.

The chamber is also disappointed in the lack of a concrete and
responsible plan to balance the budget, and the unrealistic economic
expectations it laid out. Mr. Beatty said:

By adding a further $18.1 billion to the national debt..., the government appears to
believe that we can spend our way to prosperity. If Ottawa continues to run up the
debt when times are good, we can only speculate on what our national finances
will look like next time there is a downturn.

How is this going to affect the future? We have that burden of
increasing debt and that lack of competitiveness, and our number
one competition is global now, with the Internet and people shopping
online. As we become less competitive, what happens to the jobs?
Are there more jobs or fewer jobs, or is it static?

®(1705)

Mr. Patrick Snider: The statement largely speaks for itself. The
chamber's position is very clear that the key in regard to the
government's treatment of business needs to be emphasizing
competitiveness. We need to make sure there's long-term fiscal
stability, and that in the long run we are able to continue to have a
competitive economy compared to our trading partners and the
competition around the world. In that sense we'd expect, based on a
lot of the long-term estimates, that there might be a negative
outcome if we continue with the issues that were identified in that
statement.

That's a little outside of my personal area of expertise. I'd direct
you to some of the other policy directors at the chamber for a more
detailed explanation, but that is a fairly self-evident statement.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Back over to MP Morrissey, who barely got enough time.
Mr. Robert Morrissey: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

To follow up on the comments by my colleague, I would just say
that the previous government never balanced the books, ran a $150-
billion deficit, and created a fake surplus going into an election.
They previous government did that on the backs of seniors, I might

add, who he was speaking to. Our funding program focuses on social
programs to enhance programs such as this particular one.

Putting that aside, I would like to go back to Ms. Fannon to
comment on the trend. I was interested, because that really adds
some substance to the study we're doing.

Ms. Anne-Marie Fannon: Absolutely. Just to follow on the
comments made by our colleague from the Canadian Chamber of
Commerce, this notion that there are fewer and fewer direct paths to
employment is one that we're really seeing. It doesn't mean our
Canadian graduates are not employable, and it doesn't mean they
can't find paths into high-quality, high-paying positions, but it means
those paths are much more convoluted than they were in the past.

Again, one of the many benefits of work-integrated learning is that
opportunity to explore a multitude of careers. A co-op student could
have between four and six four-month paid work terms working for
different organizations in different industries. They can work for a
non-profit, or they can work for a corporation, and so on, and they
can really find where their passion is.

When our students who exceed and excel in co-op speak to that,
that's exactly what they say, “Co-op allowed me to find my passion.”
They find an organization that fits with them when they're young,
and then they start to morph and grow and develop with that
organization. We're really seeing this idea of the development of
transferable skills and many paths, but less direct paths, to
employment.

® (1710)
Mr. Robert Morrissey: Thank you.

Ms. Gail Bowkett: If I could add one thing to the trends that have
already been mentioned, something that we are definitely seeing is
an increased interest in entrepreneurship from young people coming
through our PSE institutions.

We are also seeing that students who have undertaken a research
internship with Mitacs are coming out of those, and sometimes very
unexpectedly, with an interest in starting their own business. Now
that they've had some of this real-world experience, they think, “Wait
a second, | have this great idea,” or, “I've done this research and I
have something that I think is commercializable. Maybe 1 can
eventually start a company.”

We are starting to see that as a path or an outcome into the labour
market that maybe has grown over the last several years.

Ms. Judene Pretti: | would say, to follow up on Gail's comment,
that's exactly the trend we've seen at Waterloo with respect to
entrepreneurship.

We've been talking about ways to better support students in the
academic programming, but we've also designed programs such that
students can, during their work term, work with a mentor and
develop their business idea as their co-op work term.
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I had a conversation once with a graduating student who was
about to embark on his new company as he graduated. I said,
“What's the connection here? Help me understand why we have so
many students who go on to start their own company. What is the
connection with co-op?”” His comment was that to successfully start
your own company, you need some experience in business, and by
providing that experience through work terms during their 18-year-
old to typically 23-year-old range they're then ready to launch right
at the age of 24 sometimes, which is before they maybe get caught
up in the rest of life and they have to take less risk with respect to
what their career is going to look like.

I thought that was a really interesting potential for why the value
of this early work-integrated learning might connect to an increase in
entrepreneurship.

Mr. Ramesh Sangha (Brampton Centre, Lib.): I'm going with
the same question. Have you found out why that interest is there to
get into entrepreneurship?

Ms. Judene Pretti: I think there are quite a number of reasons,
and that it's a research project waiting to happen, but one is Waterloo
attracts it based on the reputation of the institution. I think that
exposing students to problems in the workplace, where they have the
opportunity to see what's happening and they come up with ideas of
problems they could solve, is one.

I think exposing them to peer groups who are thinking about the
same kinds of things as they work through the courses is also a
contributing factor to it.

The Chair: We will go to MP Falk, please, for five minutes.

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk (Battlefords—Lloydminster, CPC):
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you for being here today.

Typically, students would apply for co-op programs. Is that
correct? How are they advertised? Are they advertised just online or

Ms. Kristine Dawson: If I could speak to that question, there are
different models of co-operative education programs that different
institutions offer. For example, at Conestoga College, my institution,
some of our programs are mandatory co-op, meaning when a student
applies to that particular academic program, they must successfully
complete those co-op work terms in order to complete the credential.

Other programs are what we coin optional co-op programs. That
means they might enter in a non co-op stream, and then at some
point they apply, and often, based on academic performance, if they
are eligible they enter a co-op stream, and then they participate in co-
op work terms in that co-op stream.

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: If a student enters a co-op program, they
would for sure have placement, so to say.

Ms. Kristine Dawson: 1'd like to say that co-ops mimic the labour
market in that there is a competitive aspect to the job search.

Students apply for jobs. They have agency, in that they can choose
which positions suit their maybe desired career goals, but they do
have to compete for those. They're interviewing. Employers are
selecting them. In the end, the student decides to accept or decline an
offer. With that, student engagement in the job search process

certainly does play a role. There are times when students won't
complete work terms, but I think most co-op institutions have
resources in place to support the students to help ensure success
wherever possible.

o (1715)

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: Okay.

That is what 1 want to understand, because there are many
programs, degrees, or certificates that have practicum placements.
With my degree, that's what I had to do. I found it very difficult. I
had to find the placement, and the placement was unpaid.

Also, then, there is the bureaucracy within that. I am a social
worker, so where do you go for that? To a non-profit? We see a lot of
students who go into a non-profit and are actually not practising.
They're not learning the skills they need to go out and to all of a
sudden be given a caseload or to be going into social services to start
apprehending children. They aren't given the opportunity to actually
practise the skills to do that.

I'm just wondering about it. What are some ideas to approach that
situation, especially with social work? I believe that it's such a
valuable profession. There are so many different branches within it,
and they can work in so many different areas. What could we do to
make it easier, for example, for social workers to find a placement,
let alone a paid placement?

Ms. Kristine Dawson: If I could speak to that as well, I think one
of the proposals that we were recommending was financial support
for not-for-profit and community organizations. That's one of the
challenges. We see that historically there are certain industries that
typically are familiar with paid student employment and paid co-op
work terms, and then there are others that traditionally do not pay
their students.

I think this is where support to create systemic change, in the
expectation that all students providing productive work to an
employer should be paid.... That's where I think there could be some
leadership provided in making that systemic change.

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: Thank you.

For my next question, I want to follow up on Madam Fortier's
question regarding rural and urban areas. What was your statistic
with the territories?

Ms. Kristine Dawson: There were 1,590 work terms during the
period we were reporting on.
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Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: How many of those students actually
come from urban areas and are urban students? It is somewhat
disadvantaging to the people who actually live in the rural areas.

I'm just wondering if you have statistics on that.

Ms. Kristine Dawson: We don't have them readily available, but
that is something we could follow up on with the committee to see if
that's available in our statistics database.

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: If you don't mind, that would be great.

I have one quick question for the chamber. What types of
programs or incentives does the chamber believe would help with
small and medium-sized businesses to encourage the hiring of
students?

The Chair: A brief answer, please.

Mr. Patrick Snider: I think the short answer is the most
accessible ones possible. The ones that have a very long lead time or
have detailed application forms are the ones that create the most
barriers.

Simpler is better, such as things that are a simple claim tax credit,
something that operates within the existing files that they need to
submit. Anything that streamlines the process and reduces the
burden of paperwork around the process is ideal.

Mrs. Rosemarie Falk: That's perfect. Thank you.
The Chair: Thank you very much.

MP Sansoucy, you have three minutes, please.
[Translation]

Ms. Brigitte Sansoucy: Thank you.

Monday, I visited an enterprise, and this is what the owners said to
me. They are in a cutting-edge sector and have clients from all over
the world. They had to set up their own training centre, because the
university graduates that they hire are one or two years behind as
regards their leading research.

That same day, the newspaper Les affaires, quoted an interview
with the CEO of the Royal Bank of Canada:
In ten years, at least 50% of jobs will require different skills than today's, said
Mr. McKay, who quoted a study on the subject published by the RBC in March.
In order to adapt, all workers will not necessarily have to be coders, but will
instead have to depend on “essential” human skills, he feels. Among the skills of
the future are social perceptiveness and critical thinking, for instance.

Basically, he was asking for a stronger link between universities
and enterprises, and he urged enterprises to hire employees who have
less experience, and to provide placements.

I've given you the business point of view. In your opinion, how do
universities see these positions taken by entrepreneurs?
® (1720)

[English]

Ms. Judene Pretti: | would say that one of the things we see as a
benefit of the alternating model of co-op, where students are in
academic terms followed by work terms, is that they have the
opportunity to do that, to see what's happening in the real world, so
to speak, and then to come back into the classroom and connect that.
Sometimes it means that they're challenging their professors with

respect to what they see actually happening. I think that's one of the
beauties of the model of alternating between school and work.

The other thing I would say is that for our employers, even in
small and medium-sized businesses, who figure out the process of
transitioning projects and roles from one student to the next—
because typically they're hiring students year-round, not just during a
summer term—it gives them the opportunity to create that stream of
pass hand-offs. Usually our co-op students are creating manuals that
the next students can pick up and run with.

There are lots of techniques that all of our schools can share with
employers to help lower the burden of taking on students.

[Translation]

Ms. Brigitte Sansoucy: Thank you.

I would simply like a clarification.

Ms. Dawson, you spoke about Canada Summer Jobs. There has
indeed been an increase in the budget. However, for this summer, the
number of weeks has been reduced.

Did I hear you say that in your opinion an eight-week job with
Canada Summer Jobs is not sufficient?

[English]

Ms. Kristine Dawson: Yes. The eight-week length of time for a
summer job might be ideal for a high school student or someone who
is transitioning from high school to post-secondary, but most post-
secondary breaks between the fall-winter semester and the
subsequent fall semester are 16 weeks.

The typical length of a co-op work term is 16 weeks. What we
sometimes find with the Canada summer jobs program is that
employers will only be funded for eight weeks, so students will have
to search for work either beforehand or after. Or they'll sometimes
have to work unpaid for that employer for the weeks leading up to
when the payment occurs so the work term can count.

Typically, co-op programs require work terms to be at least 12
weeks long in order for a student to earn academic credit. That eight-
week funding length creates barriers for organizations that really
struggle to have the funds to employ a student for the full summer.

The Chair: Thank you very much. That brings us to the end of
the second round of questions.

I'd like to remind our members of future business.
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On May 23, it will be the main estimates. We'll be joined by all
three ministers for that time. On May 28, we're going to be working
on the Bill C-62 clause-by-clause for the first hour. For the second
hour, it will be volunteerism and witnesses in continuing this study.
On May 30, we are going to hear from witnesses around
entrepreneurship.

First of all, I want to say thank you to all of the witnesses here
today. I've seen this on the calendar for a little while and I've been
looking forward to it. I really do appreciate all of you being here
today and contributing to this study.

Dr. McRae, I look forward to welcoming you to the Waterloo
region and wish you the best of luck in your role.

Thank you very much, everybody.

Mr. Mark Warawa: Mr. Chair, I have a question before we
adjourn.

Is the meeting on the 23rd going to be televised?

The Chair: Yes, of course.

Mr. Mark Warawa: That's good.

On the motion from the NDP to adjourn debate, when are we
going to be dealing with that?

The Chair: We can discuss that in business when we want to
bring that forward.

It's up to the mover. That's not up to me. Or it's up to the
committee, I should say.

Mr. Mark Warawa: Can we discuss it now?

The Chair: Sure. We are going to be out of time here shortly, but

Mr. Mark Warawa: We have seven minutes.

The Chair: It was adjourned for today, so I don't think we can
bring it back today.

Mr. Mark Warawa: Okay. So [—

Mr. Wayne Long: On a point of order, Chair, if we adjourned
debate on that, can we bring that up on the same day?

® (1725)

The Chair: No. That's what I'm getting at. We can discuss it at a
future meeting.

Mr. Mark Warawa: Would it be at an open meeting or a closed
meeting?

The Chair: That's up to the members—up to the committee, I
should say. Okay?

Mr. Mark Warawa: Okay. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you. The meeting is adjourned.
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